THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHESTER COUNTY
General Sessions

RECEIVED

JUN 20 2016

Honorable Roger E. Henderson, Circuit Court Judge

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case Number: 2016-000193

The State,

Respondent

v.

Charles Hayes,

Appellant

APPELLANTS' INITIAL BRIEF

William G. Yarborough, III
Attorney for Appellant
522 N. Church Street
Greenville SC, 29601
Telephone (864) 331-1612
Fax (864) 370 0022

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN CONCLUDING THAT PAULINE HAYES' CONSENT TO SEARCH HER HOME WAS VOLUNTARILY GIVEN WHEN SHE ONLY CONSENTED TO THE SEARCH OUT OF FEAR OF WRONGFUL ARREST?

- II. EVEN HAD THE CONSENT TO SEARCH BEEN VOLUNTARILY GIVEN, DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN CONCLUDING THAT THE OFFICERS DID NOT EXCEED THE SCOPE OF THE SEARCH WHEN THE REQUEST FOR CONSENT TO SEARCH WAS COUCHED IN LOCATING THE FIREARM USED IN THE ARMED ROBBERY AND THE OFFICERS' LACK OF KNOWLEDGE AS TO WHAT KIND OF FIREARM USED ALLOWED THEM TO SEARCH THE HOME INDISCRIMINATELY?

- III. WHETHER THE SEARCH WARRANT WAS CONSTITUTIONALLY DEFECTIVE WHEN IT WAS ISSUED BY THE SPOUSE OF SHERIFF UNDERWOOD, WHOM WAS INVOLVED WITH THE SEARCH AND ARREST OF APPELLANT.

- IV. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING SUPPRESSION OF APPELLANT'S STATEMENTS WHEN THREATS WERE MADE TO ARREST HIS MOTHER SHOULD HE NOT CLAIM OWNERSHIP OF EVIDENCE SEIZED FROM HIS HOME?

STATEMENT OF CASE

On August 27, 2014, a group of seven officers from the narcotics unit of the Chester County Sheriff's Office sought to apprehend Patrick Simpson, a fugitive wanted for armed robbery in North Carolina. (Trial Tr. vol. 1, 89-90, 92, 162; vol. 2, 317 January 25 28, 2016). They started their search at the home of Pauline Hayes, Mr. Simpson's grandmother and Appellant's mother. (Tr. vol. 1, 189). The officers conducted "a knock and talk" and informed Mrs. Hayes of the reason for their visit and inquired as to whether Simpson was at her home. (Tr. vol. 1, 91). Mrs. Hayes informed the officers that Mr. Simpson did not live at her home, but was briefly staying to attend his grandfather's funeral. (Tr. vol. 1 91; vol. 2, 394). Mrs. Hayes told the officers that she thought Mr. Simpson had left because he was not at her house when she returned from church after 9:30 p.m. the night before and had not seen him sleeping on her couch where he had been staying. (Tr. vol. 1, 91; vol. 2, 394). After Mr. Simpson was sure the police had gone, he ran out of Appellant's bedroom, dropped his bag of belongings near the living room couch, and ran out the backdoor. (Tr. vol. 2, 394). Mr. Simpson had slept in Appellant's bedroom the night before. (Tr. vol. 2, 423). The officers left the residence to return upon Sheriff Alex Underwood's order only five minutes later to find Mr. Simpson in the backyard. (Tr. vol. 2, 396; Tr. vol. 1, 92, 163). Agent Albert Crawford testified that they did not see Mr. Simpson exit the home and enter the backyard upon returning. (Tr. vol. 2, 223). Simpson was immediately arrested and a search of his person revealed a bag of marijuana. (Tr. vol. 1, 92, 133, 164). Officers did not question Mr. Simpson about the firearm or any other narcotics he possessed. (Tr. vol. 2, 223-224).

The officers had already secured Mr. Simpson in handcuffs and in the back of a patrol car when they sought to conduct a search incident to arrest of Mrs. Hayes' home for the gun Mr. Simpson used in the armed robbery. (Tr. vol. 1, 93). At this time, the officers neither obtained a search warrant to search the home nor knew of the kind of firearm they were looking for. (Tr. vol. 1, 122). Mrs. Hayes initially refused Sheriff Underwood's requests for consent to search but relented when Sheriff Underwood told her that if they obtain a search warrant and then find a gun in the home, she and her boyfriend, Quinton Feaster, whom also lived in the home, were going to jail. (Tr. vol. 2, 398). Without advising Mrs. Hayes of her right to refuse consent, Mrs. Hayes signed the consent to search form based on the threat of arrest. (Tr. vol. 2, 398; see Consent to Search form). Mrs. Hayes later testified that she was terrified and called her son, Appellant, to come home from York Technical College, where he was earning a degree in Business Management. (Tr. vol. 2, 398, 399, 430). Mrs. Hayes' high blood pressure medication requires her to frequently visit the restroom; however, officers refused Mrs. Hayes' requests to use the restroom while they searched. (Tr. vol. 2, 399).

During their search, officers moved past Mr. Simpson's belongings in the living room and searched the back bedroom. (Tr. vol. 1, 167). Agent Crawford testified that he had smelled marijuana upon entering the home and spied a jar of marijuana lodged behind a couch in the bedroom. (Tr. vol. 1, 167, 168). The agents then found a Taurus .38 revolver stuffed in the couch and crack cocaine in the computer desk. (Tr. vol. 1, 168, 172; Evidence Inventory Sheet Incident # 201401906). The officers then decided it was time to obtain a search warrant. (Tr. vol. 1, 96-98). The search warrant was issued by Judge Angel Underwood, the spouse of Sheriff Underwood, whom was involved in the

search of Mrs. Hayes' home and the arrest of Appellant. (Search Warrant, August 27, 2014, Affiant Deputy Brad Bowers; Tr. vol. 2, 357).

Searching pursuant to the swiftly obtained warrant, agents found marijuana in a Ziplock bag and a scale. (Tr. vol. 1, 186, 200; vol. 2, 328). Appellant arrived home after the search had concluded, and the officers handcuffed he, his mother, and Mr. Feaster and held them on the front porch. (Tr. vol. 1, 100, 101; vol. 2, 401). Appellant, his mother, and Mr. Feaster denied ownership of the fruits of the search. (Tr. vol. 1, 105; vol. 2, 421). The officers read *Miranda* warnings and explained the constructive possession doctrine to them, in which each resident of the home would be arrested if no one claimed ownership of the drugs and gun. (Tr. vol. 1, 101, 105). Officers walked Appellant's mother and Mr. Feaster to the patrol car to drive them to the detention center. (Tr. vol. 1, 427). Based on fear that his mother would be arrested and put in jail, Appellant then claimed ownership, and the officers promptly and officially arrested him. (Tr. vol. 1, 105; vol. 2, 421-422).

At the detention center, after Appellant was read his *Miranda* rights, Appellant repeated in his written statement that he was claiming the fruits of the search to spare his mother from arrest. (Tr. vol. 1, 106; vol. 2, 433; see Incident Report – Reporting Officer Albert Crawford, case 2014 01906; Statement of Charles Hayes, Supplemental Statement and Rights Form). At trial, Appellant testified that he claimed ownership of the fruits of the search even though they were not his because his mother is more important. (Tr. vol. 2, 423). Appellant also testified that he felt pressured to continue questioning because he was afraid the police were going to do something to his mother. (Tr. vol. 2, 423-424). Moreover, Appellant testified that he was told what to write in his statement and in his

written responses to questions, such as who owned the gun, and how long he owned it. (Tr. vol. 2, 425, 437). Appellant repeatedly asserted his reason for doing so, “I was just saying anything just to help my mama. I was, basically, just agreeing just to get this out of the way so they wouldn’t arrest my mama.” (Tr. vol. 2, 425). Appellant acknowledged that everything he told officers at the detention center was false, but he did so in order to protect his mother. (Tr. vol. 2, 437). Further, Appellant testified that he did not write in his statement that the seized evidence belonged to Mr. Simpson because after verbally informing officers that they must be Mr. Simpson’s, he was told that he must claim ownership if he wanted to keep his mother free. (Tr. vol. 2, 435).

Because Appellant did not genuinely claim ownership of the seized evidence at the detention center, his mother and Mr. Feaster were arrested for possession with intent to distribute crack cocaine and marijuana and booked into jail. (Incident Report – Reporting Officer Albert Crawford, Arrest Warrants #2014A1210400076, 2014A1210400077, 2014A1210400078, 2014A1210400080, Booking Report case number 7340). Moreover, fingerprint testing later revealed that the jars of marijuana, the container of crack cocaine, and the revolver did not contain Appellant’s fingerprints. (Tr. vol. 2, 292, 293). Only the outside of the Ziplock bag contained his fingerprint. (Tr. vol. 2, 290).

Prior to trial, defense counsel moved to suppress Appellant’s statements and the evidence seized arguing: (1) that Appellant’s statements to police were involuntary; (2) Mrs. Hayes’ consent to search the home was not voluntarily made; (3) even if the consent to search was voluntarily made, officers did not have reasonable suspicion that further criminal activity existed to search the home after Mr. Simpson had already been apprehended, rendering the search in violation of the Fourth Amendment; (4) even if the

consent to search was not involuntary, the search exceeded the scope of the consent because the consent was given to search for the firearm Mr. Simpson used in the robbery. The State responded arguing that the consent to search was voluntary and that the warrant was lawfully issued. Following a pre-trial hearing (Tr. vol. 1, 11-72), the trial court denied Appellant's suppression motion, generally concluding that: 1) the consent to search was voluntarily given; 2) the officers did not exceed the scope of the search 3) the search warrant was unnecessary because consent was voluntarily given; and 4) Appellant's confession and waiver of his *Miranda* rights were voluntary. (Tr. vol.1, 78).

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT PAULINE HAYES' CONSENT TO SEARCH HER HOME WAS VOLUNTARILY GIVEN BECAUSE SHE ONLY CONSENTED TO THE SEARCH OUT OF FEAR OF WRONGFUL ARREST.

The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and its counterpart in the South Carolina Constitution provide protection against unreasonable searches and seizures.¹ Searches absent a warrant based upon probable cause are *per se* unreasonable and are limited to specific exceptions.² Consent to search is one exception to the warrant and probable cause requirement; however, the consent is invalid if it is not voluntarily made.³ Whether consent to search was voluntary or the product of duress or coercion – express or implied⁴ – is determined by examining the totality of the circumstances.⁵ The totality of the circumstances analysis applies in both custodial and non-custodial situations,⁶ and the court must take individual characteristics into account, including the vulnerability of the consenter and whether he or she knew of the right to refuse.⁷ The court must also consider the coercion of police, no matter how subtle, which includes threats, promises in exchange for consent, and even a show of force, such as the use of a

¹ U.S. Const. amend. IV.; S.C. Const. art. 1, § 10.

² *E.g.*, *Schneekloth v. Bustamonte*, 412 U.S. 218, 219, 93 S.Ct. 2041, 2043 (1973).

³ *Id.* at 222, 93 S.Ct. at 2045.

⁴ The Supreme Court has held that “no matter how subtly the coercion was applied, the resulting ‘consent’ would be no more than a pretext for the unjustified police intrusion against which the Fourth Amendment is directed.” *Id.*, at 228, 93 S.Ct. at 2048.

⁵ *State v. Wallace*, 269 S.C. 547, 550, 238 S.E.2d 675, 676 (1977) (citing *Bustamonte*, 412 U.S. at 227, 93 S.Ct. at 2048).

⁶ *Wallace*, 269 S.C. at 550, 238 S.E. 2d at 676 (citing *Bustamonte*, 412 U.S. at 246-47, 93 S.Ct. at 2058; *State v. Ellefson*, 266 S.C. 494, 502, 224 S.E.2d 666, 670 (1976); *U.S. v. Watson*, 423 U.S. 411, 414-22, 96 S.Ct. 820, 823-27 (1976)).

⁷ *Bustamonte*, 412 U.S., at 228-229, 93 S.Ct. at 2048-49, 2059.

threatening tone and the number of police officers present.⁸ The prosecution carries the burden of proving that the consent to search was voluntarily given.⁹

In the present case, considering the totality of the circumstances, the trial court erred in concluding that Mrs. Hayes' consent to search her home was not voluntarily given. Just before Sheriff Underwood asked for consent to search her home, six to seven officers had just intruded into her backyard and arrested her nephew for a violent crime. Mrs. Hayes was not told she could refuse consent with impunity, and she was startled and frightened by the sudden commotion at her home that interrupted her usual routine and calm morning. Moreover, Sheriff Underwood threatened Mrs. Hayes after she denied consent to search. Mrs. Hayes testified that after she refused to consent, Sheriff Underwood told her: "Well if you don't let us search the house we're going to go and get a warrant and if I find a gun in there all of y'all are going to jail." (Tr. vol. 2, 398). The purported purpose of gaining consent to search was to locate the firearm Mr. Simpson used in the armed robbery, and there is no evidence that Mrs. Hayes was aware that Mr. Simpson was a fugitive or had any knowledge of the firearm at issue. Moreover, at the time the threat was made, the officers had not yet entered the home, and there is no evidence that the officers thought that Mrs. Hayes was involved in criminal enterprise with Mr. Simpson and had planned to charge her accordingly. Hence, Sheriff Underwood used this baseless threat to coerce Mrs. Hayes into giving consent.

*Bumper v. North Carolina*¹⁰ is instructive here. In *Bumper*, police searched a woman's house without a warrant after gaining her consent by informing her that they

⁸ *State v. Provet*, 391 S.C. 494, 507, 706 S.E.2d 513, 520 (Ct. App. 2011) (citing *State v. Mattison*, 352 S.C. 577, 585, 575 S.E.2d 852, 856 (Ct. App. 2003)).

⁹ *Wallace*, 269 S.C. at 550, 238 S.E. 2d at 676. (internal citations omitted).

already had a search warrant.¹¹ The Supreme Court found the consent to search involuntary because it was induced by deceptive practices by law enforcement that were presented as requests for submission to a lawful authority.¹² The Court reasoned that “[w]hen a law enforcement officer claims authority to search a home under a warrant, he announces in effect that the occupant has no right to resist the search.”¹³

The factual circumstances of *Bumper* are distinguishable from the case at hand; however, the spirit of the Court’s reasoning is applicable. Similar to the deceptive practices in *Bumper*, Mrs. Hayes’ consent to search was induced by a threat of arrest, an arrest that Sheriff Underwood had no probable cause to make.¹⁴ Mrs. Hayes testified that the threat of arrest terrified her so much that she consented to the search, “I hurried up and signed those papers because I’m fifty-three years old, I’ve never been to jail, and I wasn’t about to start that day.” (Tr. vol. 2, 398). Because Mrs. Hayes thought she would be arrested if she did not consent, she believed that she had no right to resist the search because the officers would just arrest her anyway. Moreover, Mrs. Hayes’ refusal prior to the threat further demonstrates that she was coerced into giving consent.

Further, as demonstrated by her trial testimony, Mrs. Hayes thought the threat was real and would be carried out if she did not relinquish consent. In *State v. Greene*, a homeowner testified that her consent to search was coerced because a police officer had threatened her that they would take her to jail and her children to Department of Social

¹⁰ 391 U.S. 543, 88 S.Ct. 1788 (1968).

¹¹ *Id.* at 550, 88 S.Ct. at 1792.

¹² *Id.* at 548-50.

¹³ *Id.* at 550.

¹⁴ *See supra* p. 12.

Services (DSS).¹⁵ This Court held that her consent to search was voluntarily made because she had signed the consent form after she had calmed down from the commotion and knew the threats were not real because the officer in charge had told her that no one was going to jail.¹⁶ Here, not only was the threat made by the highest ranking officer in the county – the Chester County Sheriff himself – but also, none of the officers present contradicted Sheriff Underwood’s threat. Moreover, unlike the homeowner in *Greene*, Mrs. Hayes had not had time to calm down before signing the consent to search form. On the contrary, she testified that she was terrified and hurried to sign the consent form without time to regain composure or scrutinize the veracity of the threat.

Because Mrs. Hayes’ consent to search was not voluntarily given, the evidence seized pursuant to her consent to search must be suppressed. Courts have long held that evidence must be suppressed if seized as a result of police misconduct and the abrogation of constitutional rights.¹⁷ The exclusionary rule’s justification lies in the notion that law enforcement and subsequently, prosecutors, should not benefit from constitutional rights violations.¹⁸ The exclusionary rule applies not only to the direct product of police illegality, but to secondary evidence, what has been deemed “fruit of the poisonous tree.”¹⁹

¹⁵ 330 S.C. 551, 555-56, 499 S.E.2d 817, 819 (Ct. App. 1997).

¹⁶ *Id.* at 558, 499 S.E.2d at 820.

¹⁷ *Weeks v. United States*, 232 U.S. 383, S.Ct. 341 (1914); *Mapp v. Ohio*, 367 U.S. 643 (1961); *State v. Adams*, 409 S.C. 641, 763 S.E.2d 341 (2014); *See generally State v. Gamble*, 405 S.C. 409, 747 S.E.2d 784 (2013).

¹⁸ *See United States v. Patane*, 542 U.S. 630, 124 S.Ct. 2620 (2004).

¹⁹ *See Wong Sun v. United States*, 371 U.S. 471, 83 S.Ct. 407 (1963); *see also Nardone v. United States*, 308 U.S. 338, 341, 60 S.Ct. 266, 268 (1939); *see also Hudson v. Michigan*, 547 U.S. 586, 126 S.Ct. 2159 (2006).

Here, the threat that induced Mrs. Hayes to consent was the initial illegality that allowed officers to search her home in violation of the Fourth Amendment. Because the evidence seized during that search constitute as fruits of the poisonous tree, the trial court erred in denying Appellant's suppression motion.

II. EVEN HAD THE CONSENT TO SEARCH BEEN VOLUNTARILY GIVEN, THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT THE OFFICERS DID NOT EXCEED THE SCOPE OF THE SEARCH BECAUSE THE REQUEST FOR CONSENT TO SEARCH WAS COUCHED IN LOCATING THE FIREARM USED IN THE ARMED ROBBERY AND THE OFFICERS' LACK OF KNOWLEDGE AS TO WHAT KIND OF FIREARM USED ALLOWED THEM TO SEARCH THE HOME INDISCRIMINATELY, THEREBY VIOLATING THE FOURTH AMENDMENT.

The Fourth Amendment's warrant and probable cause requirements are subject to a few specific exceptions, including obtaining consent to search.²⁰ However, the Fourth Amendment is violated when the search exceeds the scope of the consent.²¹ Further, the scope of a search is generally defined by its expressed object²² and consent may be limited by the type of activity for which it has been granted.²³ The scope of the consent is determined considering "objective" reasonableness-what would the typical reasonable person have understood by the exchange between the officer and the suspect?"²⁴

In the present case, even if Mrs. Hayes' consent to search had been voluntarily made, the resulting search exceeded the scope of consent. The expressed object or type of activity here was defined – the firearm Mr. Simpson used in the armed robbery. Moreover, Agent Albert Crawford testified that their main focus was locating the firearm. (Tr. vol. 2, 224). Agent Johnny Neal also testified that they asked Mrs. Hayes consent to

²⁰ *Bustamonte*, 412 U.S. at 219, 93 S.Ct. at 2043.

²¹ *State v. Forrester*, 343 S.C. 637, 648, 541 S.E.2d 837, 843 (2001) ("When relying on the consent of a suspect, a police officer's search must not exceed the scope of the consent granted or the search becomes unreasonable.").

²² *Florida v. Jimeno*, 500 U.S. 248, 251, 111 S.Ct. 1801, 1804 (1991).

²³ *State v. Tillman*, 304 S.C. 512, 516, 405 S.E.2d 607, 610 (Ct. App. 1991). *See also Walter v. United States*, 447 U.S. 649, 657, 100 S.Ct. 2395, 2401-02 (1980) ("If a properly authorized official search is limited by the particular terms of its authorization, at least the same kind of strict limitation must be applied to any official use of a private party's invasion of another person's privacy.")

²⁴ *Jimeno*, 500 U.S. at 251, 111 S.Ct. at 1803-04.

search her home *for the firearm*. (Tr. vol.1, 93, 95). Accordingly, because Agent Crawford testified that he wrote in his report that Mr. Simpson had been staying in the living room of the home and not in the back bedroom (Tr. vol. 2, 233), the officers should have only searched for the firearm in his belongings set in front of the living room couch. By combing through the back bedroom, the officers exceeded the scope of the consent to search as they did not know that Mr. Simpson slept there the night before, yet knew that Mr. Simpson was staying on the living room couch where his belongings were placed.

Furthermore, the scope of the search was impermissibly exceeded because the officers did not know what type of firearm they were searching for. The officers did not know whether to look for a two-foot long shotgun or a much smaller handgun, which gave them justification to search indiscriminately throughout the entire home. Using this gap of information, the officers could search every drawer, compartment, and any container that could conceivably hold a handgun. The Supreme Court has held that searches of this nature are unconstitutional:

[c]onsent to search a garage would not implicitly authorize a search of an adjoining house; a warrant to search for a stolen refrigerator would not authorize the opening of desk drawers. Because “indiscriminate searches and seizures conducted under the authority of ‘general warrants’ were the immediate evils that motivated the framing and adoption of the Fourth Amendment”.²⁵

Thus, because the “Amendment requires that the scope of every authorized search be particularly described”, the lack of knowledge as to what firearm to search for rendered the search a free-for-all and a fishing expedition.

Moreover, Mrs. Hayes signed a pre-printed boilerplate consent form the officers had on hand. Although the form did not explicitly state that the search consented to was

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