STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Chester County
The Honorable Roger E. Henderson, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2016-000193

The State,

Respondent,

Charles David Hayes

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

Douglas A. Barfield, Jr.
Solicitor, Sixth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 607
Lancaster, SC 29721
(803) 283-3855

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. There is ample evidence in the record to support the circuit court's finding Appellant's mother (the homeowner) voluntarily consented to the search of her home.

Appellant contends the circuit court erred in denying his motion to suppress the evidence seized from his bedroom because Mrs. Hayes' consent to search was not voluntary. The record actually supports the opposite conclusion.

The admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge, whose decision will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Brewer, 411 S.C. 401, 768 S.E.2d 656, 658 (2015). Whether a consent to search was voluntary or the product of duress or coercion, express or implied, is a question of fact to be determined from the “totality of the circumstances.” State v. Wallace, 269 S.C. 547, 238 S.E.2d 675, 676 (1977). In criminal cases, the appellate court reviews errors of law only, and on appeal from denial of a motion to suppress evidence, appellate review is limited to determining whether there is any evidence supporting the circuit court's decision. State v. Moore, 377 S.C. 299, 659 S.E.2d 256, 259–60 (Ct. App. 2008).

In this case, Appellant presented **no** evidence or testimony during the suppression hearing, relying solely on cross-examination of the police officers. The officers present at the home testified no one threatened Mrs. Hayes in order to gain her consent to search the house. (TT, pp. 16-17, 42, 51-52, 60, 157-159, 185-188, 218-219, 229-230, 383-384; R., pp. 16-17, 42, 51-52, 60, 92-95, 120-124, 154-155, 165-166, 319-320). Further, it is **undisputed** Mrs. Hayes personally completed and signed the Permission to Search form, which expressly stated she had the right to refuse permission, and her consent was not the result of threats or coercion. (Permission to Search dated August 27, 2014; R., p. 505).

In the face of the officers' testimony and the signed consent form, Appellant relies on Mrs. Hayes' unsubstantiated trial testimony in the defense's case, during which she claimed the sheriff told her she would be arrested if officers obtained a search warrant and found a gun inside the house. (TT, p. 462; R., p.398). Significantly, Mrs. Hayes did **not** testify during the suppression hearing. At most, her subsequent trial testimony created a credibility issue for the jury.

Applying the "totality of the circumstances" standard, the overwhelming evidence presented at the suppression hearing and at trial provides ample support for the circuit court's finding Mrs. Hayes voluntarily consented to the initial search of her house. Accordingly, the denial of Appellant's motion to suppress the evidence located in his bedroom should be affirmed.

II. The officers did not exceed the scope of the consensual search allowing them to search for the firearm used in the North Carolina armed robbery.

Appellant also contends his motion to suppress should have been granted because even if Mrs. Hayes voluntarily consented to the initial search, officers exceeded the scope of her consent when they entered Appellant's bedroom. He argues Mrs. Hayes' consent for officers to search for a firearm Simpson used in the North Carolina armed robbery was limited to the living room where Simpson's clothes were located. His argument is based on an incomplete and inaccurate representation of the evidence.

Suspects are free to limit the scope of the searches to which they consent, and a consensual search must not exceed the scope of the consent. State v. Funderburk, 367 S.C. 236, 625 S.E.2d 248, 250 (Ct. App. 2006) (*citing* State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 541 S.E.2d 837, 843 [2001]). The scope of consent is measured by what a typical reasonable person would have understood by the discussions with the police officer leading to the consent. State v. Mattison, 352 S.C. 577, 575 S.E.2d 852, 856 (Ct. App. 2003).

Appellant acknowledges Mrs. Hayes knew the officers were searching for a firearm used in the armed robbery. An objectively reasonable person would understand the search would include any areas and containers in which a firearm could be hidden. There is no evidence Mrs. Hayes limited the scope of the search in any way. In fact, she followed the officers to the back bedroom and told them it was Appellant's bedroom.

As support for his argument, Appellant cites to a very limited portion of Agent Crawford's trial testimony, contending it established the officers knew the clothes in the living room belonged to Simpson before they initiated the consensual search. (Appellant's Initial Brief, pp. 16-17). When considered in context, however, it is clear Agent Crawford and other officers

at the scene did not know where Simpson had stayed in the house when they initiated the consensual search. Rather, after they suspended the consensual search and got a search warrant, they learned he had stayed on the couch in the living room, but Mrs. Hayes told them Simpson ran out of the back bedroom when the officers arrived the second time, and she put his clothes in the living room. (TT, pp. 42-43, 157-161, 186-190, 218-219, 229-234, 288-289, 296-298, 383-385; R., pp. 42-43, 92-94, 121-126, 154-155, 165-171, 224-225, 232-234, 319-321).

Further, even assuming for purposes of argument only that the officers knew Simpson had slept in the living room, there was nothing indicating his access to other parts of the house was restricted in any way, and if he was attempting to hide a firearm, he may well have put it in a part of the house other than where he slept.³ See State v. Morris, 395 S.C. 600, 720 S.E.2d 468, 472-73 (Ct. App. 2011), aff'd, 411 S.C. 571, 769 S.E.2d 854 (2015) (scope of an automobile warrantless search is defined by the object of the search, and places in which there is probable cause to believe it may be found) (*citing State v. Perez*, 311 S.C. 542, 430 S.E.2d 503, 505 [1993]). Thus, in light of Simpson's presence in the house, the consent to search for the firearm used in the armed robbery, regardless of what kind of firearm was involved, encompassed any area of the house in which a firearm might be located. Contrary to Appellant's contentions, the fact the officers did not know the specific type of firearm used did not invalid the scope of the search.

Finally, the officers suspended the consensual search fairly quickly and went to get a search warrant. During the subsequent execution of the search warrant, officers did locate a firearm in Appellant's bedroom, but determined it belonged to Appellant rather than Simpson.

³They did know Mrs. Hayes originally lied about Simpson being in the house, so any statements she made were suspect.

The circuit court found the officers acted reasonably during the consensual search, and were “overly cautious” in suspending the search to get a search warrant when the drugs were found in plain view. (TT, p. 78; R., p. 78). As laid out above and in Issue I, the court’s findings are amply supported by the record, and the court’s ruling on the motion to suppress the evidence should be affirmed.

III. The issue of whether the search warrant was invalid because the sheriff's wife issued it in her capacity as a magistrate was not preserved for appellate review.

Appellant contends the search warrant obtained after the drugs were discovered in plain view was invalid because the magistrate who issued it is married to the Chester County Sheriff, and thus, she was not impartial. This issue is not preserved for appellate review.

South Carolina law requires a party to raise an issue and obtain a ruling from the trial judge to preserve an issue for appellate review. State v. Sheppard, 391 S.C. 415, 706 S.E.2d 16, 19 (2011). This rule also applies to constitutional arguments. *Id.*

Appellant filed two written motions to suppress, one regarding the evidence and one regarding his statements. The motion to suppress the evidence, supported by an attached legal memorandum, challenged the validity of Mrs. Hayes' consent and argued the officers did not have a reasonable suspicion or probable cause to support searching the house at all. Nothing in the written motion challenged the validity of the subsequent search warrant because the Sheriff's magistrate wife issued the warrant. (Motion to Suppress Evidence Pursuant to Unlawful Search, dated January 25, 2016, with Memorandum in Support; R., pp. 488-489; 492).

At the suppression hearing, Appellant asked Lt. Neal if the magistrate who signed the search warrant was married to the Sheriff. The State objected on the ground that question was not relevant to the issues before the court via Appellant's written motions. When the court sustained the State's objection, Appellant stated the questions went to the legal requirement of a fair and impartial magistrate, and the State responded that issue could be argued later. Appellant did not raise the issue in the subsequent arguments prior to the court's ruling, even after the court asked if he had any other matters. (TT, pp. 45-46, 71-79; R., pp. 45-46, 71-79).

During trial, Appellant asked the officer who obtained the warrant the name of the magistrate who signed the warrant. The State objected, and after a bench conference (not on the record), Appellant moved on to another issue. (TT, pp. 421; R., pp. 357). Appellant never attempted to make a record of what was discussed during the bench conference, and the magistrate's relationship with the Sheriff was not mentioned the rest of the trial.⁴

Appellant's argument on the issue in this appeal is based on certain assumptions and rank speculation, which would require the State to respond with counter-assumptions and more speculation. This starkly demonstrates the overarching reason for the preservation requirement. If Appellant had properly raised the issue before the circuit court, the information necessary to adequately rule on the issue, as well as the circuit court's findings and conclusions, would be gathered during a hearing, and be in the appellate record to afford this Court the opportunity to properly to consider it.⁵

While Appellant may have considered raising the issue at some point, the record conclusively establishes he did not do so on the record, and the circuit court never ruled on it. Therefore, the issue is not properly before this Court for review.

⁴The failure to raise this issue in the circuit court is amply demonstrated by the fact Appellant cites to no portion of the record where the issue was discussed and ruled on by the circuit court.

⁵The most Appellant asserts are ethical considerations, which do not automatically rise to the level of prejudice requiring reversal. In fact, the Affidavit on which the Search Warrant was issued contained more than ample information to support the magistrate's finding of probable cause to issue the warrant. (State's Exhibit 41 [Search Warrant]; R., pp. 509).

IV. There is ample evidence in the record to support the circuit court's finding that Appellant's statements to law enforcement were freely and voluntarily given after the officers advised him of his Miranda rights.

Finally, Appellant argues the circuit court erred in admitting the verbal and written statements Appellant gave law enforcement the day he was arrested. He asserts law enforcement coerced him into claiming ownership of the drugs and weapon by threatening to arrest his parents if he did not admit the drugs and gun belonged to him.

A statement obtained as a result of custodial interrogation is inadmissible unless the suspect was advised of and voluntarily waived his Miranda rights. If a defendant is advised of his Miranda rights, and chooses to make a statement, the State bears the burden to prove by a preponderance of the evidence the waiver was voluntary. State v. Washington, 296 S.C. 54, 370 S.E.2d 611 (1988). The trial judge's determination of the voluntariness of a statement must be made on the basis of the totality of the circumstances, including the background, experience, and conduct of the accused. Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218 (1973); State v. Linnen, 278 S.C. 175, 293 S.E.2d 851 (1982). If a suspect's will is overborne and his capacity for self-determination critically impaired, using the resulting confession violates due process. Schneckloth, 412 U.S. at 225.

The trial court's factual conclusions as to the voluntariness of a statement will not be disturbed on appeal unless so manifestly erroneous as to show an abuse of discretion. State v. Kennedy, 333 S.C. 426, 510 S.E.2d 714, 715 (1998). When reviewing a trial court's ruling concerning voluntariness, the appellate court does not reevaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence, but simply determines whether the trial court's ruling is supported by any evidence. State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 135–36, 551 S.E.2d 240, 252 (2001).

The circumstances surrounding Appellant's two statements in this case are essentially undisputed. When Appellant, Mrs. Hayes and her boyfriend were seated on the front porch, the police officers read their Miranda rights to them, and they each indicated they understood their rights and were willing to talk to the officers. The officers asked each of them individually if the drugs and gun belonged to them, and all three denied any connection with them.

The officers then **truthfully** explained to them the law of constructive possession, and advised that since all of them had equal access to the house, if no one claimed ownership of the contraband, they would all be arrested and charged. This was not stated in a threatening manner, and was intended to be a simple explanation of what would happen if no one claimed the contraband. At that point, Mrs. Hayes looked at Appellant and told him he needed to claim his stuff because it was not hers, and Appellant finally admitted the drugs belonged to him and there was no reason to arrest anyone else. (TT, pp. 47-48,169; R., pp. 47-48, 105).

Appellant was then arrested and transported to the CCSO, where officers advised him of his Miranda rights again. This time, the rights were written on a CCSO Rights Form, and he acknowledged each right by initialing next to each one. He also signed the waiver of rights at the bottom of the form. Then he gave a written statement indicating he claimed the drugs in order to keep his parents out of jail, but at the bottom of the statement he said he did have in his possession a gun and some marijuana. He subsequently gave a Voluntary Statement Supplemental consisting of answers to some written questions, again admitting possession of the pistol and a small amount of marijuana, but denying any knowledge of the crack cocaine. (State's Exhibit 3 [CCSO Rights Form], State's Exhibit 4 [Voluntary Statement], and State's Exhibit 5 [Voluntary Statement Supplemental]; R., pp. 515; 517).

Appellant is an educated college student, and there is no evidence he has any mental disabilities. There was no long, drawn out interrogation, either at the house or at the CCSO. He was intelligent enough to make his voluntary statements essentially non-confessions. He made sure to include a disclaimer in both his verbal and written statement that he was only claiming the contraband to keep his parents out of jail. If the police so overbore Appellant's will as to coerce him into confessing, they clearly did not get the confession they wanted.

In short, Appellant attempted to have his cake (keeping his parents out of jail) and eat it too (put a disclaimer in his statements that he hoped would get him out of the charges eventually). The totality of the circumstances indicate Appellant knew very well what he was doing, and he voluntarily waived his Miranda rights thinking he could manipulate the situation to his benefit. Therefore, the circuit court properly denied Appellant's motion to suppress the statements he gave to police, and the ruling should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully submits the judgment and conviction of the circuit court should be affirmed.